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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Welcome to

          3  the hearing today, April 27th, on the Committee on

          4  Veterans Affairs. We'll be calling the hearing, and

          5  greetings to everyone. I welcome you to this hearing

          6  of the Veterans Committee. Today we'll be looking at

          7  calls for mandatory funding of the VA Health Care

          8  system and related resolution, Resolution 291, which

          9  would call upon the Congress of the United States to

         10  approve S50, the Veterans Health Care Guarantee Act

         11  and HR 2318, the assured funding for Veterans Health

         12  Care Act, which would institute a mandatory funding

         13  mechanism for the Department of Veterans Affairs

         14  Health Care system.

         15                 We know that the VA's patient

         16  population has increased by 134 percent in the last

         17  eight years.

         18                 We also know that per capita health

         19  care expenditures for enrollees in the VA health

         20  care system, have decreased by 30 percent in the

         21  same period at a time when the national per capita

         22  health care expenditures have increased by 54.

         23                 And VA doctor/patient ratios have

         24  increased by more than 58 percent over the same

         25  period. As a result of the strain on the VA Health
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          2  Care system resources, the VA has been forced to

          3  limit services offered and to forego modernization

          4  of many of the facilities and purchases of

          5  state-of-the-art medical equipment.

          6                 I'm going to actually ask that before

          7  we begin today's hearing and hear testimony that we

          8  hold a moment of silence in remembrance of the more

          9  than 700 service men that we have lost in the latest

         10  engagement in Iraq. I'm going to ask everyone to

         11  stand and join me in a moment of silence.

         12                 (Moment of Silence observed.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         14  very much. Please be seated.

         15                 Okay, we're going to call up Bernie

         16  Edelman and John Rowan of the Vietnam Veterans of

         17  America. And with them we will also call up Joseph

         18  A. Violante, from the Disabled American Veterans.

         19                 I want to take this opportunity to

         20  introduce the members of the Committee. On my

         21  extreme left is Council Member Tisch James from

         22  Brooklyn, Councilman Tony Avella, Council Member

         23  Christine Quinn, and Council Member Nelson from the

         24  Borough of Brooklyn.

         25                 Who is going to be first?
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          2                 MR. ROWAN: Good morning, Council

          3  Member Monserrate and members of the Committee. My

          4  name is John Rowan, I'm the State Council President

          5  of Vietnam Veterans of America, and I want to thank

          6  you for holding this hearing on a very important

          7  issue of concern to veterans all across the United

          8  States. And I'm really here to join with my

          9  colleague, who I'll introduce.  Mr. Bernie Edelman

         10  is the Associate Director for Government Affairs for

         11  Vietnam Veterans of America out of our National

         12  Headquarters down in Silver Springs, Maryland. At

         13  this time I'll turn it over to Bernie.

         14                 MR. EDELMAN: Thank you. Good morning,

         15  Mr. Chairman, members of the Veterans Affairs

         16  Committee of the New York City Council. It is really

         17  a pleasure to be back in my home town representing

         18  Vietnam Veterans of America. On behalf of VVA's

         19  national president, Tom Cory, we appreciate very

         20  much the opportunity to testify before you today

         21  about what is our highest legislative priority, the

         22  institution of a method of mandatory funding of the

         23  medical operations of the Department of Veterans

         24  Affairs.

         25                 Why is this VVA's highest legislative
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          2  priority? Why have VVA and eight other veteran

          3  service organizations united with a single voice as

          4  the partnership for veterans health care budget

          5  reform.

          6                 Because we must give more than lip

          7  service to the health care mandates set forth in law

          8  and by the will of the American people, and because

          9  the current discretionary mode of funding just does

         10  not work anymore, the system is broken. Unless it is

         11  fixed, the Veterans Health Care system in which some

         12  6.8 million veterans are enrolled across these

         13  United States, a system which provides generally

         14  good to excellent care for the veterans it serves,

         15  will increasingly be unable to care for those who

         16  have borne the battle.

         17                 What's wrong with the current system?

         18  For starters, because it has been radically

         19  underfunded for more than a decade, the VA has been

         20  forced to ration care by denying services to

         21  eligible veterans. Back in 1996, Congress passed the

         22  Veterans Health Care Eligibility Reform Act. Public

         23  Law 104-262 welcomed higher income, non-disabled

         24  veterans to utilize the VA health care system with a

         25  caveat that these enrollees pay a nominal
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          2  co-payment. The rationale behind this initiative was

          3  to ensure a patient base that would support the

          4  infrastructure needed to develop a modern integrated

          5  health care system.

          6                 The law, however, did not mandate a

          7  level of funding. Rather, it established an annual

          8  enrollment process and categorized veterans into

          9  priority groups to manage enrollment.

         10                 Today the VA is retrenching and

         11  so-called priority 8 veterans, those who can afford

         12  a copayment because their income is above certain

         13  thresholds, can no longer enroll in the VA system.

         14                 Although this is supposed to be a

         15  temporary palliative dictated by budgetary

         16  constraints, VA documents indicate that the VA is

         17  not planning on permitting these veterans to enroll

         18  any time soon.

         19                 The Veterans Health Administration

         20  published something called Vision 20/20 and they're

         21  blatant about contracting health care services to

         22  VA's core constituency. Service connected with

         23  disabled veterans, veterans with spinal cord

         24  injuries, ex-prisoners of war, indigent veterans.

         25  This is not necessarily the rule of congress, this
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          2  is the core mission of VA and we applaud it, but

          3  congress should changed the law that it passed with

          4  great fanfare eight years ago, if it agrees with the

          5  direction that VA is currently heading in.

          6                 But even with denying service to

          7  hundreds of thousands of veterans, upwards of

          8  300,000 veterans enrolled in the system last year

          9  had to wait in excess of six months for appointments

         10  with primary care physicians and specialists.

         11                 This number has shrunk considerably,

         12  thanks to the commitment of VA Secretary Anthony

         13  Principe, who by the way is also a son of New York

         14  City. But this was an unconscionable situation, and

         15  it got changed because of the glare of publicity and

         16  a lot of the publicity came from the Veteran Service

         17  organizations.

         18                 If the president's budget for the

         19  next federal fiscal year passes in its current form,

         20  it will result in decreased funding for the VA's

         21  medical operations.

         22                 This budget, we call it the Nussel

         23  Bill, caps discretionary funding for Veterans Health

         24  Care in Fiscal Year 2006 through 2009.

         25                 For the new federal fiscal year which
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          2  begins in October, Secretary Principe is on record

          3  stating that his Department needs at minimum $1.2

          4  billion over and above what the Administration, his

          5  Administration, has proposed simply to maintain the

          6  current level of services.

          7                 Unless Congressional leadership can

          8  be swayed, he will not be getting the money the

          9  system he oversees desperately needs.

         10                 What do we propose? We propose a

         11  method of funding that is adjusted annually for

         12  medical inflation. A mandatory method of funding

         13  that takes Veterans' Health Care out of the

         14  competition for dollars with scores of other

         15  discretionary programs, such as highway

         16  construction, and the President's Herald Admission

         17  to Mars Initiative.

         18                 Most importantly, we need a method of

         19  funding that will provide the VA with a predictable

         20  funding stream for its medical operations.

         21                 Such a method of mandatory, you could

         22  call it obligatory guaranteed, assured, doesn't

         23  matter, would be based on the per capita use of the

         24  VA Health Care system index for medical inflation.

         25                 There are a lot of myths about
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          2  mandatory funding. It will not create a new

          3  entitlement to health care. It will change only the

          4  way the VA health care system is funded. It will not

          5  result in runaway cost but ensure that the VA

          6  receive sufficient resources to care for veterans

          7  who use the VA health care system. Nor will congress

          8  lose oversight. As it does with other mandatory

          9  federal programs, congress will retain oversight of

         10  VA programs and health care services, and the VA

         11  would be held accountable for how it spends its

         12  money and how well it runs its programs.

         13                 HR 2318, introduced by Lane Evans,

         14  who is ranking member of a House Veterans Affairs

         15  Committee, is certainly a step in the right

         16  direction. VVA is on record of supporting this bill.

         17  The partnership doesn't support a specific bill, it

         18  supports the concept of mandatory funding.

         19                 Will 2318 and S 50 pass during this

         20  session of congress? That's not likely. However, if

         21  we can get the concept of mandatory funding into

         22  public discourse and onto the congressional agenda,

         23  into the presidential debate, it will have a far

         24  better chance of gaining consideration to the 109th

         25  Congress.
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          2                 Veterans have earned the right to

          3  timely access to medical care. We believe it is part

          4  of the covenant between those who have worn the

          5  uniform and the government of the nation they swore

          6  to defend.

          7                 This is not an entitlement. This is

          8  not a boondoggle, this is not welfare. VA Medical

          9  Care must be recognized for what it is, a continuing

         10  cost of our national defense.

         11                 Today thousands of American troops

         12  are engaged in fighting wars in Afghanistan, as well

         13  as Iraq. We have a commitment to them, and to those

         14  who will come after them, and to those who came

         15  before them.

         16                 Part of that commitment, part of our

         17  covenant with them, is to provide adequate health

         18  care for those who have borne the battle.

         19                 I'd like to leave you with a quote

         20  from the first president of the United States, a

         21  fellow named George Washington who said, "the

         22  willingness with which our young people are likely

         23  to serve in any war, no matter how justified, shall

         24  directly proportional as to how they perceive the

         25  veterans of earlier wars were treated and
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          2  appreciated by their nation.

          3                 With that I'd be happy to answer

          4  questions, or turn it over to my colleague, Mr.

          5  Violante.

          6                 MR. VIOLANTE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman, and members of this Committee. I'm Joe

          8  Violante, with Disabled American Veterans. I'm their

          9  National Legislative Director, and I want to thank

         10  this Committee for having this hearing. It's an

         11  important issue. It's important enough for me to

         12  come up from Washington, D.C. to attend this.

         13                 I want to commend the Committee, your

         14  opening statement, Mr. Chairman, and your resolution

         15  to demonstrate that this Committee understands the

         16  issues that we're facing.

         17                 I see you have a lot of witnesses

         18  here. I'm going to be very brief in my remarks, and,

         19  again, I want to thank you so much. This is an

         20  important issue.

         21                 As Bernie indicated, we're having a

         22  problem convincing our federal elected officials

         23  that the care for sick and disabled veterans are

         24  continuing costs of war, and the price of freedom

         25  that we all enjoy and cherish here in this country.
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          2  And it's great to see that this Committee has taken

          3  this issue and has given it some attention. Because

          4  we certainly need that back in Washington where our

          5  efforts to debate this issue, to get it on the

          6  table, to determine whether or not this is what

          7  needs to be done is being stonewalled by our elected

          8  officials.

          9                 For two years now, for the past two

         10  consecutive years, VA has been denied a timely

         11  appropiation's bill. They had to wait til the first

         12  quarter of the new fiscal year before they received

         13  that funding. No one can operate a business without

         14  getting their funds in a timely manner. This bill

         15  will correct that situation. This bill would provide

         16  them with the necessarily level of funding to care

         17  for all those veterans who were coming to the

         18  system.

         19                 You mentioned in your opening

         20  statement, Mr. Chairman, the increase has been about

         21  134 percent. The increase for patient demand, the

         22  increase in funding has only been about 38 to 40

         23  percent and not all of that is from the federal

         24  budget, some of that is from veterans' own pockets

         25  and their insurance companies. So, our government is
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          2  not meeting the commitment to veterans, and we need

          3  to emphasize with them and to have you support those

          4  efforts here, that our elected officials need to

          5  start paying more attention to this issue and to the

          6  needs of those sick and disabled veterans,

          7  particularly now that we are at war, and we are

          8  making more sick and disabled veterans each and

          9  every day.

         10                 I want to thank you, again, for your

         11  time and for your efforts on this.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         13  gentlemen.

         14                 I have a question or two, for the

         15  panel members.

         16                 Would mandatory funding make a

         17  difference if congressional budget cuts passed?

         18                 MR. VIOLANTE: Mandatory funding would

         19  be based on the number of veterans enrolled through

         20  VA health care, times the per capita basis. So,

         21  there would be an automatic inflationary thing put

         22  in there.

         23                 The only way the cuts would affect it

         24  are if there were cuts in actual mandatory funding

         25  levels.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And one of

          3  the other questions I've had is I've heard claims

          4  that the VA has had to forego the modernization of

          5  many of its facilities; can you give me examples of

          6  what this has meant from reports received by any one

          7  of the organizations?

          8                 MR. VIOLANTE: I didn't catch that.

          9  You said what was being delayed?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

         11  Modernizations.

         12                 MR. VIOLANTE: I don't know if I can

         13  give you specific examples, but certainly there have

         14  been a lot of facilities around the country that

         15  have had to forego sizemic improvements and other

         16  improvements to the facilities because the funding

         17  has been put on hold because of the Cares process.

         18                 MR. EDELMAN: Last summer we were in

         19  St. Louis for our VVA's national convention, we hold

         20  that every other year, and we went with, I believe

         21  it was with Chairman Chris Smith, from New Jersey,

         22  who heads the Veterans Committee, the Committee on

         23  Veterans Affairs, and we went to one of the VA

         24  medical centers, I do not recall which one. They

         25  were programmed to say things are fine and dandy.
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          2  When Chris and John Bradley, one of the staffers,

          3  started asking questions, you started realizing

          4  things were not so fine and dandy. They were losing

          5  nurses they could not replace in a timely manner.

          6  They could not do some of the other capital

          7  improvements that were needed because there were

          8  simply too many uncertaintees.

          9                 The whole Cares process now adds to

         10  that uncertainty. Let me leave it at that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         12                 We'll take some questions from

         13  members of the Committee. Council Member James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Good morning,

         15  gentlemen.

         16                 The bill that's being sponsored in

         17  the senate by Senator Clinton and Senator Schumer,

         18  in the House by Representative Bishop and

         19  Congressman Crowley, et al., what is the status of

         20  those bills, and what are the obstacles getting them

         21  passed in the congress?

         22                 MR. VIOLANTE: Well, the status of

         23  those bills is they're still pending in the

         24  Veterans' Affairs Committees in both chambers and

         25  obstacles are getting hearings on each of those
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          2  pieces of legislation.

          3                 We have been unable to get either

          4  Veterans' Affairs Committee to schedule a hearing on

          5  those issues.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And is it a

          7  philosophical opposition to the mandatory funding?

          8  Or is the issue just the cost involved?

          9                 MR. VIOLANTE: I think it's probably

         10  both.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         12                 And the closing of the Manhattan VA

         13  Center. Is it linked to the funding in Washington,

         14  or?

         15                 MR. VIOLANTE: It's not supposed to

         16  be, but I think the Veterans service organizations

         17  are concerned that a lot of the Cares process is

         18  budget driven, as opposed to actual needs based, but

         19  you know, it's difficult to really ascertain.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the trends

         21  for the future, as our men and women come home from

         22  Afghanistan and Iraq, what does it bode for the

         23  future?

         24                 MR. VIOLANTE: It sends a very

         25  chilling message, I think, to veterans who are
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          2  currently serving.

          3                 These veterans will need the VA

          4  health care system probably til 2050, 2060 and

          5  beyond. If we can't adequately fund it now and keep

          6  it running properly, there won't be a system for

          7  them when they need it.

          8                 MR. ROWAN: Yes, I'd like to say on

          9  that point, I'm a Service Officer, I help people

         10  file claims with VA and the system with obtaining

         11  their benefits, and I've been getting some of the

         12  newer veterans who are just getting out of the

         13  military, both regular military and garden reserve,

         14  and they're very confused about what their benefits

         15  are, and people in the VA are confused. I had a

         16  young lady who came in looking for pregnancy

         17  testing, and they told her, no, we don't do that.

         18  They do. I mean, they're not ready for any of these

         19  new veterans. And they're certainly not ready for

         20  the new diseases they're bringing in. There's a real

         21  problem with respiratory ailment of people who have

         22  been going over to Kuwait and to Iraq.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And can you

         24  explain this priority, the way that they do

         25  services?
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          2                 I understand that they're backlogged

          3  from six to nine months to get an appointment to get

          4  into the VA Hospital. I also understand that there

          5  is a priority system, and I don't understand it.

          6                 MR. EDELMAN: Okay. When they created,

          7  in 1996 when they opened up the system, it was with

          8  the caveat that with some people who could afford to

          9  pay would pay a small co-payment, there would be

         10  third-party collections. There were initially, I

         11  believe, seven priorities, going from 100 percent

         12  service connected disabled veterans, the special

         13  categories, like those with spinal cord injuries,

         14  former prisoners of war, blinded veterans, et

         15  cetera. Last January 17th, or 23rd, I forget the

         16  date, because the VA health care system, the funding

         17  was hemorrhaging, Tony Principe made a very

         18  difficult call. He closed new enrollments, created a

         19  new category, priority eight and he closed

         20  enrollment to that.

         21                 These are the folks who, a lot of

         22  them have health care on the side. They can afford

         23  to pay the co-payment. They did that because they

         24  could not accept more people into the health care

         25  system.
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          2                 Right now in VA planning documents,

          3  they are not planning for the return of any priority

          4  eight veterans any time soon.

          5                 If you're already in the system,

          6  you're grandfathered in, no one is being kicked out.

          7  But if you don't use the system, for, I believe it's

          8  two years. I'm not sure of the amount of time, if

          9  you don't use the system, you're out by fiat, I

         10  guess. I don't know if that answers your question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It sheds some

         12  light on it. But thank you for your questions.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: First I'd like

         14  to thank you very much. I'm a dues paying member, a

         15  Vietnam veteran to America, but you guys do the

         16  heavy lifting. So, we're all really in your debt,

         17  and anybody who is here that gets actively involved

         18  in Veteran Affairs, because even though we all know

         19  that veterans deserve more than they're getting, if

         20  you guys and gals didn't hold the feet of the

         21  elected officials to the fire, especially in

         22  congress, we would probably just be passed by more

         23  and more and more.

         24                 We should call this Mission to Mars

         25  business, maybe Mission to Marshal Support for
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          2  Veterans, and you'll change this a little bit and

          3  get the priority straight. I mean, it would be

          4  great. If we had a lot of money, I'd love to see

          5  what's doing on Mars academically and everything

          6  else, but down here on earth is where we have to

          7  really spend the money, especially for those guys

          8  and gals who deserve it so much.

          9                 Rhetorically, the VA system was

         10  funded in 1996 levels, but now of course there's

         11  going to be an influx more of us, veterans coming

         12  in; what would happen if there was all of a sudden

         13  there would be another ten, 20,000 in the system at

         14  current funding level? It's a rhetorical question

         15  but --

         16                 MR. ROWAN: Well, VA couldn't handle

         17  it. They can't handle it now.  They certainly can't

         18  handle a large influx based on the current funding

         19  levels.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So, closing

         21  any hospitals would obviously be really extremely

         22  shortsighted.

         23                 MR. ROWAN: It is happening now, and

         24  what's happening in the Vietnam Veterans community.

         25                 Unfortunately, while the obvious
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          2  wounded occurred 35 years ago for most of us, you

          3  got shot or blown up or whatever, and you have

          4  physical wounds and the mental wounds came

          5  afterwards, you know, they're fairly obvious, and

          6  they're being treated and they've been treated ever

          7  since. But unlike our predecessors, we had things

          8  like Agent Orange and exposure to dioxin, which

          9  unfortunately, is now creating wounds, if you will,

         10  35 years later.

         11                 So, many of us are getting diabetes

         12  early, like myself, we have secondary conditions

         13  from the diabetes, we are getting people with

         14  cancers, prostate cancers, there is an automatic

         15  compensation these days.

         16                 I've had half a dozen people I know

         17  in the last year tell me they had prostate cancer

         18  and had to go in for treatment. So, what's happening

         19  is, we may not have ever used the VA from the day we

         20  left the military in the 1960s or '70s, now in the

         21  2000s we're all in our fifties, unfortunately, a lot

         22  of the things that have been laying around dormant

         23  in our systems all these years are starting to

         24  affect us, and we're coming down with cancers and

         25  diabetes and secondary-related Agent Orange
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          2  conditions that are, frankly, going to really have a

          3  big impact on the VA health care system. Because the

          4  reality is, while the numbers of veterans may be

          5  dwindling because the World War II and Korean

          6  veterans are dying off and aging out, they're being

          7  replaced by the Vietnam veterans, who unfortunately

          8  I believe are going to have a higher health care

          9  need than their predecessors. And so the system is

         10  still going to have to be there for quite a long

         11  time to come.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Without a

         13  doubt.

         14                 Any creative suggestions, as far as

         15  regards to funding health care systems, veterans? I

         16  guess it's sort of rhetorical.

         17                 MR. EDELMAN: We talk in terms of

         18  mandatory system. Those who object to this concept,

         19  we say that's fine, come up with something better.

         20  No one has come up with something better. Right now,

         21  it's a discretionary system that funding for

         22  veterans health care, for the VAs medical

         23  operations, competes for a smaller, and smaller part

         24  of a shrinking budgetary pie. Part of that budgetary

         25  pie is the Mission to Mars. What was called the VA
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          2  HUD bill, which eventually became part of an omnibus

          3  legislation to pass the current budget, we're in

          4  competition with a whole bunch of different projects

          5  all across the country. And a lot of times, even

          6  though we try to tell the congressman and the

          7  congresswoman and senators that you've got veterans

          8  in your district, they vote for a project rather

          9  than for something that will help veterans. Which is

         10  why we want --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Mandatory

         12  funding.

         13                 MR. EDELMAN: Mandatory funding.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Adjusted

         15  annually.

         16                 MR. EDELMAN: Adjusted annually for

         17  medical inflation.

         18                 There are two publications, and we've

         19  got a bunch of these, Honor America's Commitment to

         20  Veterans. We always call it the TRIVO (phonetic).

         21  For those of you, there are plenty of copies on the

         22  side over there. This is a publication put out by

         23  the nine veteran service organizations that are

         24  united behind this concept. Almost a year ago,

         25  Vietnam Americans of America published its White
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          2  Paper on the position of VVA on health care funding

          3  for all veterans. And there were grafts or charts in

          4  there. One of the things that we felt was quite

          5  compelling is the idea that when this new law went

          6  into effect in 1996, and more veterans started

          7  coming into the system, for three or four years, the

          8  budget was fundamentally flatlined. You can't do

          9  that. You cannot, if you look at the numbers in

         10  here, and I won't bore you with that now, you cannot

         11  add people coming into the health care system at the

         12  same time not pay for it, okay?

         13                 If it is the will of Congress not to

         14  have veterans in, not to have certain categories of

         15  veterans, then let them say that. Otherwise, they

         16  must fund it, and the way to fund it, we believe, is

         17  through mandatory funding process.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, I'll

         19  wrap up with this. So, our junior and our senior

         20  senators are with us, and a number of our congress

         21  members, is any particular group in congress, any

         22  particular segment of the country, area of the

         23  country, party, that needs to be holding this up?

         24                 MR. EDELMAN: Okay Veteran Service

         25  organizations, we are nonpartisan. We have to be
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          2  nonpartisan.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Sure.

          4                 MR. EDELMAN: We just had a day on the

          5  hill for members of our board, one of them spoke

          6  with Katharine Harris, you may know that name from

          7  about three and a half years ago. She is now a

          8  congresswoman from the great State of Florida. And

          9  when Dave McMichael, who is our Florida State

         10  Council President, asked her directly, will you

         11  support the idea of mandatory funding, she said, no,

         12  I will not because I will not go against our

         13  leadership, okay?

         14                 There are a handful of members of

         15  congress who do go against leadership. Chris Smith,

         16  who heads the Veterans Affairs Committee in the

         17  House, a republican from New Jersey. He gets in

         18  trouble with leadership because he goes to bat for

         19  veterans.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I certainly

         21  didn't want to make this partisan. I agree with you.

         22  It's just everybody must know who the

         23  instructionists are, if you will, and to deal with

         24  them and with letter-writing campaign, whatever

         25  states our brothers and sisters are in, let them
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          2  know that people are watching them and concerned.

          3                 MR. EDELMAN: No, I just agree with

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, okay.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 MR. EDELMAN: It's very important that

          8  they do that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Edelman.

         11                 Thank you, gentlemen. Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         14  gentlemen. Thank you for your testimony today.

         15                 I would like to call up the next

         16  panel. Doug Vollmer, Paralyzed Veterans of America.

         17  John Tipping of the American Legion; and Abraham

         18  Mike Ali, from the Military Order of the Purple

         19  Heart USA.

         20                 Okay, gentlemen. Please identify

         21  yourselves, and the organization.

         22                 MR. VOLLMER: Mr. Chairman, members of

         23  the Committee, on behalf of Paralyzed Veterans of

         24  America, it's a privilege and a pleasure to present

         25  our views concerning mandatory funding for veterans

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS AFFAIRS

          2  health care.

          3                 PVA appreciates the interest of the

          4  New York City Council and this Committee in this

          5  issue and your concerns for the veterans of New York

          6  and the nation. I am Douglas K. Vollmer, Associate

          7  Executive Director of Government Relations for the

          8  Paralyzed Veterans of America.

          9                 PVA is pleased to be one of the four

         10  partners, along with AMVETS, Disabled American

         11  Veterans and the Veterans of Foreign Wars who for

         12  the past 18 years have developed The Independent

         13  Budget in an effort to secure adequate funding for

         14  the Department of Veterans Affairs.

         15                 The Independent Budget is an annual

         16  budget and policy review for veterans' programs and

         17  represents an unprecedented joint effort by the

         18  veterans' community to identify the major issues

         19  facing the community today while serving as an

         20  independent assessment of the true resource and

         21  policy needs facing veterans.

         22                 For 18 years we have approached this

         23  payout to secure funds, and today we're going to

         24  deviate some from it.

         25                 We find, Mr. Chairman, that we are
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          2  becoming increasingly troubled by the delays

          3  enacting VA appropriations.

          4                 The Fiscal Year 2000 VA

          5  appropriations were not enacted until October 20th.

          6  In '01, October 27th, in '02, November 26th, in '03,

          7  February 20th, and this January 23rd.

          8                 For the past two years alone the VA

          9  health care system had to struggle along at previous

         10  years inadequate funding levels for nearly one third

         11  of each year. This is unacceptable. These delays

         12  directly affect the health care received by

         13  veterans.

         14                 The Administration's budget request

         15  for this year is a shocking one. Calling for only a

         16  $310 million increase in appropriated dollars. A

         17  mere 1.2 percent increase over the previous year.

         18                 Indeed the VA Under Secretary for

         19  Health testified just last year that the VA requires

         20  a 13 to 14 percent increase just to keep its head

         21  above water.

         22                 In addition, we are once again faced

         23  by a request that relies far too heavily on budget

         24  gimmicks and accounting slight of hand rather than

         25  on real dollars.
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          2                 So, today the VA health care system

          3  faces two chronic problems: The first is

          4  underfunding, the second is lack of consistent

          5  funding. The budget and appropriations process last

          6  year is a textbook example of how the VA labors

          7  under the uncertainty of not only how much money it

          8  is going to get, but equally as important when it is

          9  going to get it.

         10                 The only solution we can see is for

         11  congress to approve legislation removing VA health

         12  care from the discretionary side of the budget

         13  process and making annual VA budgets mandatory.

         14                 The health care system can only

         15  operate properly when it knows how much it is going

         16  to get and when it is going to get it.

         17                 For this reason, PVA has joined with

         18  others in the veterans community in the partnership

         19  for veterans health care budget reform, and why we

         20  are present today.

         21                 The partnership has clearly laid out

         22  the problem that the VA faces and the solution we

         23  believe could address this problem. Veterans have

         24  earned their right to health care by virtue of their

         25  sacrifices while in uniform and the contributions
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          2  they have made in defense of this country.

          3                 Without timely adequate funding, the

          4  VA will only continue to ration health care for our

          5  veterans, as appropriations trickle in each year.

          6                 Veterans will continue to wait months

          7  to receive their care. Health care delayed is health

          8  care denied.

          9                 Mr. Chairman, we believe that to

         10  change this ineffective system it will take broad,

         11  grassroots action to make congress aware of the

         12  importance of a viable and efficient funding

         13  mechanism for the VA health care system. We thank

         14  this Committee and Council for your interest and

         15  action in this fight and we are pleased with your

         16  introduction of Resolution No. 291 calling upon

         17  congress to act.

         18                 This partnership, too, calls on every

         19  member of congress to Honor America's Commitment to

         20  Veterans." Make veterans health care funding

         21  mandatory so that veterans can receive the care they

         22  need when they need it.

         23                 Thank you. And I'll take any

         24  questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,
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          2  sir. And we're going to hold the questions until the

          3  panel is finished.

          4                 Next person, please.

          5                 MR. TIPPING: Thank you. Mr. Chairman,

          6  it is an honor for me to appear before this

          7  distinguished body to express the American Legion's

          8  support of mandatory funding for VA health care.

          9                 But before I begin, let me say that I

         10  don't know if you have the copies before you? You

         11  do. And I have copies of my testimony, which I don't

         12  know if you wish to pass them out?

         13                 Mr. Chairman, today thousands of

         14  American service men active duty, guard and reserve

         15  are deployed to far off lands in response to the

         16  nation's call to arms.

         17                 This new generation of warriors will

         18  one day turn to the VA for assistance, and together

         19  we must ensure that this system create the care for

         20  the unique needs of veterans, and is indeed capable

         21  of providing that care.

         22                 As a representative of the nation's

         23  largest veterans organization, I am here today to

         24  affirm the American Legion's commitment to work with

         25  you to accomplish that goal.
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          2                 Over the past 20 years, the VA has

          3  transformed its medical system to a collection of

          4  hospitals and homes to a health care system of

          5  excellence that provides, that leaves private and

          6  other government health care providers in almost

          7  every measure.

          8                 The quality of that care was provided

          9  through the VA health care system is exemplary.

         10  However, the quality of care is irrelevant if access

         11  to that care is impeded.

         12                 The Gulf War was the first act in the

         13  current war on terrorism. Operation Enduring Freedom

         14  and Operation Iraqi Freedom are continuations of

         15  America's commitment to end global terrorism. The

         16  brave men and women currently deployed in more than

         17  130 countries are returning to the VA that is

         18  struggling to meet its current demands.

         19                 These new veterans, who will be

         20  joining the veterans of the past wars, as they wait

         21  in line for health care from the VA. Just last week

         22  the President reminded the American people that the

         23  war on terrorism will take a long time and require

         24  the commitment of thousands of more American troops.

         25                 Guarded reserve deployment has been
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          2  extended for one more year. Our troops are

          3  continually forced to do more with less. The VA will

          4  no longer be forced to do the same.

          5                 It is important that the VA is

          6  capable of meeting its obligations, not only to the

          7  veterans of the wars of the past, but to those

          8  future veterans who will continue to fight for the

          9  freedom of this great nation.

         10                 Accessibility to VA health care must

         11  be improved. Medical VA care will be adequately

         12  funded in order to assure facilities are staff

         13  equipped and maintained at the level that will allow

         14  all veterans to be treated in a timely manner.

         15                 Balancing the VA budget on the backs

         16  of veterans is not the solution.

         17                 Suspending enrollment of previous

         18  eligible veterans is not the solution. Enduring

         19  adequate funding for the VA medical care is the

         20  solution. Over the past several years, the VHA has

         21  struggled to provide quality care while staying

         22  within budget constraints. These budgetary

         23  uncertainties create problems within the VA health

         24  care system.

         25                 Future spending projections, staff
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          2  levels, equipment purchase, structural improvement

          3  and all are stalled if the funding is not certainty.

          4                 In an effort to provide a stable and

          5  adequate funding process, the American Lesion fully

          6  supports band-aid funding for veterans health care,

          7  during the first session of the 108th congress. More

          8  than $1 billion was added and subtracted from the VA

          9  health care budget.

         10                 Designated VA medical care as a

         11  mandatory funding within the federal budget will

         12  eliminate the uncertainty of certain current

         13  process.

         14                 Mandatory funding will provide a

         15  reliable funding mechanism for VA health care.

         16                 The American Legion firmly believes

         17  that designating a VA medical care, as a mandatory

         18  funding item within the federal budget will enable

         19  the VA to fulfill its mission to care for those who

         20  have borne the battle.

         21                 Mr. Chairman, that completes my

         22  testimony. I'll answer any questions that you may

         23  have. Thank you.

         24                 MR. ALI: My name is Mike Ali. I'm

         25  with the Military Order of the Purple Heart, I'm the
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          2  New York State Commander. Our legislative leader

          3  could not be here today. I apologize for not having

          4  a written statement for you today, as I found out

          5  two days ago that I have to be here and speak.

          6                 However, I am not totally aware of

          7  all the problems the VA system have, but with the

          8  Care system of the VA hospital being closed in New

          9  York, in Manhattan, and Dago and Montreal's VA

         10  Hospital, poses a great crisis to what is happening

         11  in the United States. We have patients being shifted

         12  from Pennsylvania to the Bronx VA, we have patients

         13  being shifted from Vermont to Albany VA in New York

         14  State, and this has to do ultimately with funding.

         15  Funding is the very large problem in the VA system

         16  today. People put in for claims and their claim is

         17  not answered in a timely manner, and most Vietnam

         18  vets today are suffering from a lot of diseases, as

         19  many of the veterans here have testimony, that we

         20  have things like prostate cancer, Agent Orange, I,

         21  myself, suffer from a pituitary gland problem that

         22  can now be solved. I have a left knee that has to be

         23  replaced, and it cannot be replaced. I have never

         24  been denied good medical health coverage from the

         25  VA, but it was not adequate by any means, some of
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          2  the problems I have today cannot be answered because

          3  the VA does not have the facility to treat my

          4  illness, and I am not alone in this.

          5                 Now, what are we really talking about

          6  here when we say funding? Funding is something that

          7  we really owe our American soldiers. We already have

          8  our freedom. We're Americans, we have our freedom

          9  already. The thing is that the people that are

         10  serving on line for us today are maintaining our

         11  freedom, and what kind of signal are we going to

         12  give them when we're cutting back on VA systems and

         13  funding, with no mandatory funding, no idea where

         14  the money is coming from. We are at war today. We do

         15  not know the amount of casualties that are coming

         16  back.

         17                 I personally have heard that some of

         18  these casualties are catastrophic or long term.

         19  They're not like myself, an amputee, that can get

         20  around. My condition is getting worse.  There's some

         21  gentlemen here that walk around. They look fine to

         22  you, but they have problems, and their problems are

         23  not being answered medically.

         24                 They say to us we're going to close

         25  VA hospital because the numbers are down. Then why
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          2  do we have to wait three months and four months to

          3  get to see a doctor? And the doctor puts us off to

          4  another doctor, and we never see the correct doctor.

          5  We always get new doctors. We don't seem to be able

          6  to keep nurses or qualified doctors, and I think

          7  this is because of funding. These doctors become

          8  discouraged and go to other facilities. We must

          9  maintain our facilities. And like I said, what kind

         10  of signal are we going to give our young men and

         11  women today coming back from a war, and telling

         12  them, gee, we can't help you because we have this

         13  new system, and if you don't apply within 90 days or

         14  two years, you're out of the system. They're coming

         15  back with toxic chemicals, just like Agent Orange.

         16  The problem with this is it took us 35 years to find

         17  out we were chemically poisoned. These people will

         18  find out maybe in five years. But they will not be

         19  eligible for VA benefits, because it's being cut

         20  back to the extreme.

         21                 You go to a VA hospital and you see a

         22  beautiful lobby, but you don't have the health care

         23  that's necessary to take care of my pituitary gland

         24  problem, my leg problem, his back problem, his

         25  prostrate problem, and the answer to them is, well,
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          2  gee, we're going to give you this medication and see

          3  if it works.

          4                 No. Why can't you send us to a

          5  specialist if you do not have a specialist at your

          6  facility. Send us to a specialist and pay for it

          7  because of funding. The other problem

          8  service-connected veterans like myself have is, I'm

          9  100 percent disabled, and, well, 100 percent, is

         10  there anything higher than 100 percent? Yes, I'm

         11  like 300 percent. I never saw this in school. 100

         12  percent is an A, but I guess I got an A plus, plus,

         13  plus, but I'm not being compensated for it

         14  monetarily, and compensable disability. They just

         15  say, well, we'll add it to your 100 percent. My leg

         16  has to be replaced, my knee, they cannot do it. It's

         17  impossible. But why isn't my compensation being

         18  basically adjusted? This is a funding problem, and

         19  it's an inadequate problem. The system is a broken

         20  system, it must be repaired.

         21                 I'm not saying that the VA system is

         22  a bad system. We have very dedicated people that

         23  work for us at VA centers. These doctors and nurses

         24  are dedicated the veterans. They worked for less pay

         25  than normal hospitals do. They worked for less pay.
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          2  Some of these have master's degrees and can get more

          3  money down south, more money at private hospitals,

          4  but they opt to stay with VA hospitals. Why? Because

          5  they care about American veterans. They care about

          6  our people, and this is what it's about.

          7                 We have our freedom. We're helping

          8  other countries develop their freedom at our cost.

          9  But what can we offer them in return when they come

         10  home. What are we offering them now? Have you been

         11  listening to the news? Have you been listening to

         12  what the Administration has to say? They're not

         13  giving these people anything. Has anybody in this

         14  room have any idea of the type of casualties that

         15  are coming home? I would bet the answer is no. I

         16  have seen some of these casualties, they're long

         17  term, they're catastrophic. As I was told by an

         18  endocrinologist that's treating myself, some of

         19  these people are coming home with pituitary brain

         20  cancers that cannot be solved. These are incurable

         21  diseases. We're looking at big body counts here.

         22  Maybe not as large as Vietnam, but long-term, and we

         23  must answer that call. We must take care of these

         24  people. If we don't take care of these people, who

         25  in the next time when a war breaks out, or this war
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          2  on terrorism breaks out, whether it's political or a

          3  bipartisan or whatever, who is going to step up to

          4  the plate and say, you know, I'm going to protect

          5  America, I'm going to protect my country. People are

          6  going to say no. Just like Vietnam. We're going to

          7  Canada, because we don't want to die. Who wants to

          8  die? But who wants to come home sick and not be

          9  treated? We need to treat people, and we need to

         10  give them the quintessential medical servings they

         11  deserve and that we in this room deserve. This is

         12  not a charity. We are not a charity case. We're not

         13  basket cases. This is an agreement we had with our

         14  country. We served. Now it's their turn to serve us

         15  and give us what we need as far as compensation

         16  goes, financially, and medical treatment. And we

         17  cannot let these people go by the wayside. We have

         18  homeless veterans today.

         19                 Now, what's the problem with that? I

         20  don't know. You know, closing the VA hospitals in

         21  New York State, three of them, and a lot of them

         22  happen to do docilary (sic) care with mental care,

         23  was this researched properly? The answer is no. None

         24  of these things have been researched properly. We

         25  have a very big problem in America in the VA system.
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          2  I understand that we have other programs in America

          3  that we must answer, but we must never turn our

          4  backs on someone who provides you the safety of your

          5  freedom, and your freedom of movement and action and

          6  to behave as we can.

          7                 I'm speaking here today because of

          8  those who have gone before me, that give me the

          9  opportunity to speak to you today. You're sitting

         10  there because we provide your security. The people

         11  in Iraq and Afghanistan are providing our security.

         12  The closures of VA hospitals is not the answer for

         13  these people. It's discouraging. Personally, if I

         14  was in the military, I think I would be resigning.

         15                 And if you have any other questions,

         16  I'm sorry it sounds hostile, but this is exactly the

         17  point.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         19  very much. Thank you very much.

         20                 MR. ALI: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I think that

         22  all of the panelists thus far have been very

         23  eloquent in pointing out concerns that we face.

         24  Obviously, we're a City Council, and the resolution

         25  that we have before us that we will not be voting on
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          2  today, was actually introduced by myself. I'm also a

          3  veteran, and card carrying member of the American

          4  Legion and the Marine Corps League, formal Corporal

          5  Semporfi (phonetic).

          6                 MR. ALI: Semporfi.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And I'm

          8  hearing you loud and clear, which is why it's so

          9  important that this Committee was formed as a full

         10  Committee here in the Council, that we can help

         11  organize these voices together and collectively take

         12  our message to Washington, D.C.

         13                 And I actually have some questions.

         14  In the first Persian Gulf crisis, I was actually a

         15  reservist. I was activated, and I remember that upon

         16  discharge, I believe I was given 90 days to sign up

         17  for VA benefits.

         18                 MR. ALI: That's right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That's right.

         20  And I recall doing that. If I had not signed up

         21  within the 90 days, could someone answer?

         22                 MR. ALI: You would not be eligible

         23  for treatment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Not be

         25  eligible.
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          2                 MR. ALI: And a lot of people say,

          3  well, no that's not true. Well, let me just tell you

          4  that I have three friends right now. One was at the

          5  Bronx VA, he just got out of the military and the

          6  Navy. He's still within his time to get his

          7  veterans' benefits. They sent him a bill.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: So if you

          9  served during war time and then you get discharged,

         10  if you don't fulfill this administrative step for

         11  filling out the forms for VA benefits, and five

         12  years later you develop cancer per se, now that our

         13  service members are again in the Persian Gulf and

         14  Iraq, and we have had recent reports that our

         15  service members have been exposed to depleted

         16  uranium, which causes a litany of symptoms, and I

         17  guess clearly cancer carcinogens, if they do not

         18  when they are discharged within 90 days fill out

         19  these forms, you're saying that they have no access

         20  to VA benefits for medical?

         21                 Could someone explain that to me?

         22                 MR. VOLLMER: Well, Mr. Chairman, I

         23  would suggest that any veteran that finds himself in

         24  that situation, first of all, should contact a good

         25  service officer, and really look at and process his
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          2  claim and make sure his paperwork is right. The 90

          3  days isn't an absolute drop-dead date that you can

          4  never access the system again. That was an opening

          5  for people that were just immediately getting out.

          6  Today's people that are currently serving have a

          7  two-year window of accessing veterans health care

          8  for the broad range of health care available to the

          9  VA.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Well, let's

         11  say an individual comes home from Iraq today, and he

         12  or she is very happy to be back, find a job, marry

         13  Jane, have a baby, continue their life. He doesn't

         14  want to remember the military because he's got some

         15  bad memories, maybe he lost some buddies in Iraq. He

         16  goes on with his life, never fills out the

         17  paperwork, and ten days later he develops his rare

         18  form of cancer that's probably linked to exposure to

         19  depleted uranium; what kind of access would he have

         20  or she have to VA medical benefits.

         21                 MR. VOLLMER: Under the current

         22  system, just by virtue of being a veteran, depending

         23  on where your income is, and that's when we talk

         24  about category 8, that the Secretary foreclosed new

         25  category 8's coming in a year ago this past January,
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          2  other than that group of people that have high

          3  incomes and no service-related disability, they have

          4  access to the VA today. And this gentleman you're

          5  talking about ten years from now, if the system

          6  stayed the same, he could walk into the VA, prove

          7  that he was a veteran and have access to the full

          8  range of care.

          9                 Now, whether that care would be

         10  timely or not, that's what we're talking about

         11  resources today. Does the VA have the capacity in

         12  both people and infrastructure to accommodate him in

         13  a timely fashion. But this individual would not be

         14  denied access to VA care.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I guess what

         16  you're saying, and obviously the essence of this

         17  hearing is that under the current structure that

         18  care is inadequate, and is perhaps, in fact,

         19  inadequate?

         20                 MR. VOLLMER: There is adequate care

         21  within the VA. One of the problems is some of that

         22  care is denied or delayed, and therefore it's almost

         23  like a denial in health care.

         24                 It depends. In my experience and

         25  through our organization, I don't know anybody that
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          2  was in a life-threatening situation or a drafting

          3  situation that did not have immediacy of care, or

          4  fairly quick care. For chronic conditions,

          5  conditions that are difficult to diagnose, a lot of

          6  problems, and somebody mentioned earlier, the

          7  earlier panel I believe, mental health situations,

          8  those are chronically, those are seriously short of

          9  resources and people dealing with those kind of

         10  non-life-threatening situations, for the people I

         11  think that are being most damaged today by the

         12  inadequacy of resources and the fluctuations in

         13  resources.

         14                 I mean, how can you be a manager, the

         15  Secretary of Veterans Affairs, a hospital director

         16  or even a clinic manager, if you don't know how much

         17  you're going to get and when you're going to get it?

         18  You don't know whether to hire a nurse or what, and

         19  that's what we need this mandatory funding for.

         20                 MR. ALI: If you don't mind me adding

         21  to this. It's true the VA will not turn a veteran

         22  down. If you come in and you say you have a problem,

         23  they will look at you, but then you have to turn

         24  around and file a claim. This is where the

         25  administrative problem begins. This could take
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          2  forever. If the guy has got prostrate cancer, you

          3  don't have forever. If he has a toxic problem. When

          4  Agent Orange came out, a lot of people died from

          5  lymphoma before they found out what Agent Orange

          6  was, and we think the government really knew what it

          7  was.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Right. I

          9  think that you outline exactly where I'm going with

         10  this. I am of the opinion that there should be a

         11  minimum of administrative hurdles that in fact

         12  anyone who served during that, primarily those who

         13  served in conflict, should not have to go through

         14  any type of administrative hurdle.

         15                 Secondly, many of the conditions that

         16  might not appear early on that based on the science

         17  of today we wouldn't find or determine a direct

         18  correlation, which was the issue of Agent Orange

         19  early on. There was a lot of debate and questioning

         20  and perhaps even some denial on the part of our

         21  government as to the use of it and its direct

         22  impact. So, I'm a bit suspicious of that.

         23                 Let me give the opportunity for some

         24  of my colleagues here in the committee to ask

         25  questions.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Gerson from Manhattan, and Council Member Gerson,

          4  you have a question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes. Just one,

          6  Mr. Chair. And first of all, let me thank you and my

          7  colleagues for your indulgence. This morning I had a

          8  Youth Committee meeting scheduled precisely the same

          9  time as this, so I had to do that by committee dance

         10  which we all had to do from time to time. But I

         11  thank you, and then once again, Mr. Chair, I thank

         12  you for your leadership and taking up the cause of

         13  our veterans.

         14                 Just one question to any or all of

         15  you. Could you address why from the veterans'

         16  perspective, of course, it would be important, or it

         17  is important to maintain the VA hospital and health

         18  care structure, as opposed to hypothetically taking

         19  the money and maybe even adding more money and

         20  distributing it to individual veterans or vouchers

         21  or extra insurance or what have you, to enable

         22  veterans to then go into and receive hospital and

         23  health care from the general hospital and health

         24  care system; why should we as a society continue to

         25  maintain our structure of specific VA hospitals, and
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          2  health care providers?

          3                 MR. VOLLMER: Mr. Councilman, on

          4  behalf of the Paralyzed Veterans of America, I can

          5  say nationwide no other system of health care exists

          6  in the United States to deal with spinal cord injury

          7  as efficiently and as effectively as the VA has put

          8  together.

          9                 That's because 60 years ago there

         10  were no individuals who encouraged spinal cord

         11  injury, or the very rare individual that survived

         12  after 90 or 120 days, until the development of sulfa

         13  drugs and penicillin and then the life expectancy

         14  was totally unknown, and it was the VA that stepped

         15  up to the plate to create a symptom of spinal cord

         16  injury care. That's unique to our organization. But

         17  I believe the same holds true in the area of blind

         18  rehabilitation and the treatment of blindness, in

         19  some cases of dealing with amputation, the VA has

         20  developed a specific expertise that is unique to the

         21  health care needs of this particular part of the

         22  population that are veterans.

         23                 I think the same is true

         24  historically, the VA has begun to put together

         25  exceptional programs in mental health dealing with
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          2  the effects of combat and the stress of service.

          3  Unfortunately that has fallen, not in disfavor but

          4  not -- funded adequately in recent years, and I

          5  think there are other situations too.

          6                 So, with these core elements, the VA

          7  has created a health care environment that treats

          8  this unique population as veterans that I don't

          9  think exists out there otherwise.

         10                 And another thing, a political

         11  perspective is, that if you didn't have the

         12  hospitals on the hill or the clinic down the street,

         13  at some point VA health care would be much more out

         14  of site and out of mind, I'm sure this Committee is

         15  much more cognizant of veterans' health care today

         16  because of some of the issues that have arisen

         17  through the Cares process, because it just brings to

         18  mind, they're talking employees, there's this

         19  concentration, and if it were just a card you

         20  carried because you're a veteran and you could

         21  access any health care system, I think there would

         22  be a loss of interest and a loss of support for what

         23  we have today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         25  very much, gentlemen.
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          2                 MR. TIPPING: Chairman, if I just may

          3  add to that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Yes.

          5                 MR. TIPPING: I'm sure that you're

          6  aware of it, however, you know, national emergency

          7  back-up, by statute, the VA serves as a back-up to

          8  the Department of Defense and the National Disaster

          9  Medical System in times of national emergency in

         10  periods of war. And as my colleague had said here,

         11  specialized care, the VA provides a wide range of

         12  specialized services unmatched by the private

         13  sector. And in answer to your question.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair,

         16  just a quick comment, follow-up, as a follow-up. I

         17  just want to make it clear that I ask this question

         18  to get the important information you stated on the

         19  record and to hear the added insight from you I

         20  fully support. And that's why it was important to

         21  get this information on the record, the

         22  continuations for all the reasons, you cited them

         23  much better than I certainly could, so that's why I

         24  wanted to get you to say it.

         25                 And certainly I support what you
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          2  said, the resolution you've introduced, and this

          3  part of a commitment to continuing our VA and

          4  improving our VA hospitals and health care system.

          5                 Thank you very much for your service,

          6  and for your continuing service as advocates.

          7                 Thank you, gentlemen. Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 MR. ALI:  Do you mind if I just give

         10  a message to the veterans that are in the audience?

         11                 To all of us veterans out here,

         12  remember one thing, at one time we were all

         13  soldiers, we were brothers at arms. Forget the cover

         14  you wear, whether it's VFW, American Legion, Purple

         15  Heart, we're veterans again and we're fighting a

         16  different type of war. We have to come together on

         17  these issues, and we have to stay there.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         19  gentlemen.

         20                 MR. ALI: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I would like

         22  to call up Edno Wells Handy, from the Mike Handy

         23  Foundation and Fund.  Warren Dolny, from the Jewish

         24  War Veterans, I believe another Marine. And Jay

         25  Johnson from Veterans Quality of Life Access
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          2  Network, Inc.

          3                 I'm going to ask everyone to please

          4  limit their testimony to two minutes, and then we'll

          5  do Q And A.

          6                 MS. HANDY: Good morning, Mr. Chair --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Good morning.

          8                 MS. HANDY:-- Members of Council,

          9  veterans, and friends of veterans. My name is Edna

         10  Wells Handy, and I'm the widow of Michael Handy. He

         11  was the former Director of the Mayor's Office of

         12  Veterans Affairs for the last ten years.

         13                 You honored Michael's memory and the

         14  family recently at a City Council reception during

         15  Veterans Day, at which you so nobly provided the

         16  family a proclamation that I'm told is historic in

         17  that it has the signatures of all City Council

         18  members. So for that we thank you.

         19                 But we also are here because we

         20  wanted to let you know that while Michael has passed

         21  from this life, his work has not. And we continued

         22  his work in the Mike Handy Foundation and Fund.

         23                 You have before you a brief digest of

         24  the Mike Handy Foundation and Fund. And while we're

         25  not going to speak directly to the issue of
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          2  mandatory funding, we would like you to know what

          3  we're doing so that when the time arises for the

          4  collaboration that this effort is going to take,

          5  you'll know that the Mike Handy Foundation and Fund

          6  is available.

          7                 Our mission is to mobilize and

          8  support organizations and initiatives dedicated to

          9  ensuring rights, benefits and public recognition of

         10  veterans for all eras and their families. Our first

         11  effort in carrying out our mission, and if you turn

         12  the page you'll see, is information regarding the

         13  Citywide hearings we've been holding.

         14                 We will have our sixth hearing this

         15  afternoon in the Bronx. Our hearing is looking at

         16  the status of veterans. We've met so far at the

         17  Intrepid, Brooklyn, Queens, Staten Island last week,

         18  because you were hearing information that was

         19  recurring specifically with respect to health care

         20  and homelessness, we met at the Borden Avenue

         21  Veterans Shelter and this evening, or from two to

         22  seven today, we'll be meeting in the Bronx.

         23                 I give this information to you,

         24  members of the Council, City Council, so that you'll

         25  know that there is an effort out there to test the
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          2  polls of the every day veterans, and what we're

          3  going to do with the information that we're

          4  receiving will be to put it together in an interim

          5  report that we will issue on Memorial Day.

          6                 We're asking to have a briefing with

          7  the City Council with the Veterans Caucus, so that

          8  you will have a preview of what we're finding, and

          9  if I can just give you a pre preview of what we're

         10  finding is that we're hearing that there is a host

         11  of issues. There's good, there's bad, there's ugly.

         12  There's good, in terms of what we're hearing about

         13  the VA system. When it works, it works beautifully.

         14  When it doesn't work, it creates problems, and it

         15  creates problems that I don't believe the citizens

         16  at large know about.

         17                 And one of the things that we'll be

         18  doing in the Mike Handy Foundation is to become that

         19  independent voice that will provide information to

         20  the public, bring together the diverse communities

         21  that the Veterans community has heretofore existed,

         22  and provide the kind of collaboration between the

         23  organization.

         24                 Chair Monserrate, you indicated in

         25  your statement about what about -- one of your

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS AFFAIRS

          2  questions, what if you missed your 90 days? Well,

          3  one of the things that we're hearing consistently is

          4  the absence or the disconnect between the available

          5  benefit and what the veteran knows, and how he or

          6  she has to access that.

          7                 So, we're looking at ways in which

          8  everyone who might have, we might say, a nickel in

          9  that quarter, can help. For example, is there

         10  something that can be done so that the veterans that

         11  are identified for New York, are identified for

         12  Council members, and that they are provided that

         13  information at a critical stage.

         14                 We're finding that even if the

         15  veteran has that information, he or she may not have

         16  the wherewithal to engage this system. So we might

         17  need to get that information to the dependents. So,

         18  we're looking at all of that as a bundle of

         19  opportunities to address a constituency that should

         20  be at the top of everyone's list, and that we at the

         21  Mike Handy Foundation will ensure that they stay at

         22  that list.

         23                 So, thank you for the opportunity to

         24  speak to you again, and I thank you for honoring my

         25  husband and his memory.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I just want

          3  to remind all of the witnesses that are testifying

          4  today, there is a two-minute limit on time. We have

          5  a series of other folks who want to participate. So

          6  please just make your presentation.

          7                 MR. DOLNY: I'm representing the

          8  Jewish War Veterans, my name is past National

          9  Commander Warren Dolny, I'm also Chairman of the

         10  National Executive Committee, and with me here today

         11  is past Department Commander Florence Greenwald, who

         12  was also a member of the National Executive

         13  Committee.

         14                 I would like to thank this group on

         15  behalf of the Jewish War Veterans of the USA for

         16  creating this opportunity allowing us to come before

         17  you to discuss the importance of mandatory VA health

         18  care funding to solicit your continued support for

         19  veterans programs.

         20                 The Jewish War Veterans are greatly

         21  concerned that veterans programs in the current

         22  fiscal year and in the future, will have to compete

         23  against other priorities, such as Nassau, Homeland

         24  Security and the war in Iraq.

         25                 Nassau has become a high priority.
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          2  Man's based flights to both the moon and Mars are

          3  being planned. These will be costly and the funding

          4  will impact Veterans health care.

          5                 The Jewish War Veterans strongly urge

          6  congress not to cut veterans in order to experiment

          7  in space.

          8                 By the Department of Veterans Affairs

          9  own statistics, over 200,000 veterans must wait six

         10  months or longer for their primary care appointment.

         11  The Jewish War Veterans and the USA strongly

         12  supports the Honorable Lane Evans for his

         13  introduction of the mandated funding of the VA Care

         14  System, as proposed in HR 2318 together with 117

         15  co-sponsors of that bill and those sponsors of S50.

         16                 A new generation of young Americans

         17  is once again deployed around the world, answering

         18  our nation's call to arms.

         19                 Like so many brave men and women who

         20  honorably serve before them, these new veterans are

         21  fighting for freedom, liberty and security for all

         22  of us.

         23                 Also, like those that fought before

         24  them, today's veterans deserve the due respect of a

         25  grateful nation when they return home.
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          2                 Unfortunately, without urgent

          3  changes, the VA health care funding our new veterans

          4  will soon discover their battles are not over. They

          5  will be forced to fight for the life of health care

          6  systems that was designed specifically for their

          7  unique needs. And just as the veterans of the 20th

          8  century did, they will be forced to fight for the

          9  care they each were promised and entitled to

         10  receive.

         11                 The Jewish War Veterans believe that

         12  health care rationing for veterans must end. It is

         13  time to guarantee health care funding for all

         14  veterans. The Jewish War Veterans have called for

         15  the current discretionary funding formula, and the

         16  VA must compete with other agencies with scarce

         17  budget dollars to be replaced by providing adequate

         18  mandatory funding for VA medical care.

         19                 VA must be adequately funded to meet

         20  our own growth and end intolerable waiting periods.

         21                 In the Fiscal Year 2004 budget

         22  request, President George Bush and Secretary of

         23  Veterans Affairs Anthony Principe clearly stated

         24  their objective, a continued focus on the health

         25  care needs of the VA's core group, our veterans,

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS AFFAIRS

          2  those with service-connected disabilities, the

          3  indigent and those with special needs.

          4                 However, the term core group of

          5  veterans does not appear in Title 38 of the US code.

          6  The President's budget request proposes the

          7  punishing -- the pushing of 1.2 million veterans in

          8  priority groups 7 and 8 out of the system -- it is

          9  punishing -- through a combination of enrollment

         10  fees and increased co-payments.

         11                 Funding for VA health care currently

         12  falls under discretionary spending within the

         13  federal budget.

         14                 The daily health care budget competes

         15  with other agencies and programs for federal dollars

         16  each year.

         17                 The funding requirements of health

         18  care for service-disabled veterans are not

         19  guaranteed under discretionary spending.

         20                 Under mandatory spending, however, VA

         21  health care would be funded by law for all enrollees

         22  to meet the eligibility requirements guaranteeing

         23  yearly appropriations for the health care

         24  entitlement to veterans.

         25                 The Jewish War Veterans express deep
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          2  concern that under the guise of a lack of funding

          3  from congress, the VA has taken the easy way by

          4  creating a category 8, and halting the health care

          5  involvement of an expected 164,000 additional

          6  veterans.

          7                 This is no time to cut them off. The

          8  fault lies with both congress and the

          9  administration, which has failed to fully fund the

         10  VA. The Jewish War Veterans of the USA believe that

         11  underfunding is ridiculous, when under the Homeland

         12  Security Act of 2002, Congress has approved $100

         13  million to bail out insurance companies. Two billion

         14  dollars more for the VA would solve this

         15  underfunding, and make up in part for the recent

         16  two-year moratorium in funding the VA.

         17                 We humbly request that this body of

         18  locally-elected representatives of the people to

         19  make resolutions strongly supporting mandatory

         20  funding for VA health care to each of your

         21  congressional representatives.

         22                 We would also request that you

         23  request your state's representatives to concur with

         24  you and show their support for mandatory funding by

         25  forwarding their resolutions as well.
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          2                 The Jewish War Veterans of the USA

          3  will join with our fellow veterans service

          4  organizations to make this countrywide-shown support

          5  for mandatory funding for VA health care by

          6  requesting the elected representative in every City,

          7  town, village, across America, to forward their

          8  resolutions in support of HR 2318 and S 50 as soon

          9  as possible.

         10                 The voice of the American Veteran is

         11  loud and clear, and the American veteran votes. We

         12  will let our voices be heard at the ballot box.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Dolny.

         16                 Yes, sir.

         17                 MR. JOHNSON: Good morning, Mr.

         18  Chairman, and members of the Council. Thank you for

         19  allowing me to speak this morning.

         20                 I'm Jay Johnson, member of Veterans

         21  Quality of Life Access Network, Mr. Campbell, is the

         22  CEO. We support all the proposals and the stuff that

         23  the other veterans organizations represent, and I

         24  also think there's a lot of veterans out there in

         25  the streets that are, like the sister said, they're
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          2  not being notified, the proper information is not

          3  being given to them. They don't have the access to

          4  the information, and there are still a lot in these

          5  homeless shelters. So, cutting the VA system budget

          6  for health care will be disastrous for these people

          7  that are still out there, that are not being

          8  properly treated or properly notified, and informed

          9  of the conditions that, you know, the benefits that

         10  they have available to them. So, I think it's

         11  necessary to keep this proposal, you know, accept

         12  this proposal to increase the budget, you know,

         13  annually, for the veterans, and in conjunction with

         14  the new veterans that are being made.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Johnson. I appreciate your time.

         18                 Any questions?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Council

         21  Member Gerson has a question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a

         23  question and then a brief comment. And Mrs. Handy,

         24  it's always good to see you. You're looking so well.

         25  Thank you.
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          2                 Do any of you have anything more to

          3  add to the previous testimony as to why we need to

          4  keep a distinct VA hospital system and provider

          5  system, as opposed to integrating it within the

          6  broad, the more general system?

          7                 MR. DOLNY: Yes. I'd like to answer

          8  that to a certain extent in any event. Vouchers,

          9  something that you mentioned as a possible idea, I

         10  have no idea what the cost might be, whether it's

         11  cost effective or not. But let's start right from

         12  the beginning. There has been all sorts of

         13  discussions about diapers in the school system, and

         14  there's all sorts of arguments both ways about it.

         15  But I would like to go a bit further and just talk

         16  about that as this possibility, because let's just

         17  enhance that.

         18                 What about transportation. Instead of

         19  having a subway system, as we have in New York, or a

         20  bus system as we have in New York, and everyone

         21  paying a couple of bucks, why don't we have a free

         22  system, and give everybody out $100 to use, or

         23  whatever the number might be, as vouchers, instead

         24  of having to pay for it.

         25                 This way the City wouldn't have any
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          2  expenses, because you just have the one expense. We

          3  can say the same thing with security. I live in a

          4  building in New York City that has a doorman and has

          5  other security. Why not eliminate the Police

          6  Department, eliminate the Housing Police for the

          7  sake of argument and let individuals pay their own

          8  security force by giving vouchers to each

          9  individual. Same as veterans. I'll go further, same

         10  as sanitation. People are required to clean up in

         11  front of their homes or apartment houses and so on

         12  and so forth.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think your

         14  point is very well taken. Again, the suggestion was

         15  not for vouchers.

         16                 MR. DOLNY: I understand. But I'm

         17  making for the record to get the same point across

         18  as you are.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Very good.

         20                 MR. DOLNY: It's impractical.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes, sir.

         22                 MR. JOHNSON: Also, the bottom line is

         23  that when we went into the service, we signed our

         24  name on the dotted line, we were promised health

         25  care, adequate health care, like the brothers here,
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          2  and to turn around now -- what I found, you know,

          3  right after they went to Iraq, this two-year

          4  proposal was made to the Veterans Administration to

          5  prevent a lot of things that occurred from the

          6  Vietnam vets, that took us, myself personally, 30

          7  years to find the proper information and the proper

          8  help. I'm a disabled vet, gunshot wound, post

          9  traumatic stress disorder, was totally denied when I

         10  went into the VA system. I managed a job and stayed

         11  married and so forth until one day -- you know,

         12  every day grow roots. So, what I'm saying is this

         13  two-year plan that they're proposing that they've

         14  offered the new vets are really going -- it's really

         15  another void. Because the things they're dealing

         16  with is going to take the government five to ten

         17  years to find out what they did to them, such as us

         18  with Agent Orange, so on and so forth, mental

         19  disorder, that it took them 30 years to even accept

         20  the fact that they caused this condition in the

         21  current vets. So, when they come back from Iraq,

         22  like you said, some of the ones they've already seen

         23  suffer from nervous condition, mental conditions,

         24  that are still not being identified, or being, you

         25  know, accepted as their fault. So, this two year
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          2  proposal is like throwing them out the door. If you

          3  don't come in, if it doesn't affect you, as soon as

          4  you hit the US from Iraq, then you out there. And I

          5  think it's a terrible thing to even tell my

          6  children.

          7                 I also have friends and relatives in

          8  Iraq at this point. I have a niece that's down in

          9  Kentucky now waiting to go. So, I'm very interested

         10  in what goes on at this point.

         11                 MS. HANDY: One of the things we

         12  heard, especially at the shelter, was the need for

         13  sensitivity to the veterans. I'm not speaking on

         14  behalf of the general public, but I dare say that

         15  that level -- the necessary level of sensitivity to

         16  veterans, veterans issues, veterans response,

         17  veterans, the way they see the world now as a

         18  veteran, is not well distributed in the general

         19  public, and you gain that kind of sensitivity either

         20  by immersion, you go through it, or by the continuum

         21  connection to veterans. And I would think that those

         22  who work in the veterans community, if they don't

         23  have it, are further along on the continuum to gain

         24  it than those in the general population.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think that's
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          2  a very important point, and I thank you for putting

          3  that on the record.

          4                 Mr. Chair, I just want to acknowledge

          5  the presence of my local leader and commander,

          6  member of the National Executive Committee, Florence

          7  Greenwald, who is present in the audience. She was

          8  also one of our honorees at the last veterans event

          9  the City Council sponsored, and it's just good to

         10  see you looking so well and doing so well. And thank

         11  you very much for being here.

         12                 And for all which you continue to do,

         13  energy I cannot keep up with.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 MR. JOHNSON: Can I have one more

         16  thing?

         17                 In conjunction with what the sister

         18  said, we find now the VA is basically made up of a

         19  lot of non-veterans, which takes away the compassion

         20  for what we have endured through the war time

         21  periods or veterans' experiences. So I think that

         22  has a lot to do with the compassion leaving the VA

         23  system, because everybody, a lot of the people are

         24  not veterans who don't understand what veterans go

         25  through when they return. Thank you.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You're

          3  absolutely right, Mr. Johnson.

          4                 MR. DOLNY: Can I make another point,

          5  sir?

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yes, Mr.

          7  Dolny.

          8                 MR. DOLNY: We talk about the waiting

          9  six months in order to get proper medical care from

         10  the VA. Some of us can afford -- I'm not in priority

         11  7 or 8, I am in a higher priority level, but

         12  nevertheless, I'm not using the VA currently, and I

         13  might lose my benefits because of the fact that I

         14  can afford to go elsewhere rather than wait for six

         15  months. I don't know what the future is going to

         16  hold for me, but let me make another important point

         17  about waiting for the six months and what that's

         18  doing to the health of the veteran.

         19                 For a good number of years I was a

         20  member of the Board of the Metropolitan

         21  Transportation Authority, and I was on the Board in

         22  the late eighties and the nineties. And at that time

         23  when I came on the Board, we had a major problem in

         24  New York because of delayed maintenance or no

         25  maintenance at all. And the result was, besides
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          2  graffiti, which was a big issue, insofar as your eye

          3  was concerned, and seeing it, the big problem was

          4  what was happening to all the equipment and running

          5  the transportation system in the City.

          6                 The end result, of course, was that

          7  it cost a hell of a lot more to fix and replace the

          8  equipment rather than maintain it.

          9                 And, so, the point being very simple,

         10  if you have to wait six months for medical care,

         11  your situation deteriorates. Whatever your problem

         12  might be, you don't know what it is, and waiting six

         13  months might be deadly. And it is deadly in many

         14  cases, and we don't see that on the record, because

         15  you don't know the situation.

         16                 And the point that I make simply is

         17  that delaying health care is the same as not

         18  handling the transportation system in this regard,

         19  and the result is deadly.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, the

         21  Chair recognizes the analogy, and we thank you so

         22  much for your testimony. Being a warrior is a great

         23  common denominator, no matter what your color is, no

         24  matter whatever your religion is. In this case we're

         25  all brothers and sisters. We know, and as the
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          2  gentleman brought out, people don't understand what

          3  it's like to be a veteran if you're not a veteran.

          4  Not because they're stupid, they're just ignorant of

          5  what we've been through, as least you guys and gals

          6  have been through.

          7                 So, I thank you, Mr. Johnson, and Mr.

          8  Dolny and Ms. Handy, for your testimony. Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 If we could please have the next

         11  panel come up? We have Mr. Richard Smith,

         12  representing disabled veterans vendors; Mr. Steven

         13  Schroeder, DVV I think it is, but I can't make it

         14  out. Disabled Veteran Vendors. Mr. Ralph DiToro

         15  also; and Mr. Ben Simmons, Disabled Veteran Vendors,

         16  too. Thank you.

         17                 Yes, and, please, in the interest of

         18  time again, if you can limit it to two minutes each,

         19  please, thank you.

         20                 We have to clear this room in not too

         21  long. Whoever would like to start first.

         22                 MR.: Good morning, Mr. Nelson and

         23  members of the Veterans Board. My name is Steven

         24  Schroeder, and I'm a disabled veteran. I'm a member

         25  of the Disabled Veteran Vendors, and we're here
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          2  today to talk about this health care issue. I'm not

          3  as well schooled and on the law as my predecessors.

          4  I want to just say one thing: For our country to

          5  send people into outer space before it takes are of

          6  our veterans is a disgrace.

          7                 I feel that the closing of the VA

          8  hospital in Manhattan would be a grievous error. The

          9  people involved in this should support the veterans,

         10  get us the relief we need quickly, as, for example,

         11  to close the VA facility in Manhattan, I know many

         12  people who need that facility.

         13                 Some of these people need to be

         14  treated for certain things they can't afford due to

         15  their health reasons to make these journeys to

         16  Brooklyn, to the Bronx. In my opinion, I feel it

         17  shouldn't be done. What would happen to a disabled

         18  veteran, or any veteran for that matter with medical

         19  problems, the nearest facility would be let's say

         20  Brooklyn, Fort Hamilton Hospital. What's to say they

         21  need their medication right away. They can't get

         22  access to it. They have to travel to Brooklyn.

         23  What's to say something won't happen to them in

         24  their transit on the way to be taken care of?

         25                 We need this money. We need it to
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          2  support our veterans. I have had some of the best

          3  care in the VA facility than I have ever had at any

          4  private hospital. I was treated in the VA for a

          5  serious condition related to my disability, where it

          6  caused the loss of all my teeth and bad infections.

          7  I couldn't be seen in a private hospital. I would

          8  have to wait hours in a City hospital. But the VA

          9  took care of me right away.

         10                 In these kind of situations, I feel

         11  that the VA has the best doctors, they care more for

         12  the disabled veteran than a private facility.

         13  Granted, a lot of them can't afford to go, some of

         14  us can't. This is all we have. And to close these

         15  hospitals because of lack of funds is ridiculous. We

         16  could afford to send a man into space, we could

         17  afford to take care of other countries' problems,

         18  involving billions of dollars, but, yet, we can't

         19  take care of the vets that fought for this country,

         20  that helped build things to where we have access to

         21  these programs, let's get the money where it

         22  belongs. Mars can wait. The veterans can't.

         23  Prolonged illnesses, the time we have to take to see

         24  doctors. I was postponed by appointments several

         25  occasions by the VA, I was sent to see different
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          2  doctors, I had a primary care doctor and lost him.

          3  He was fantastic. This is like a stepping stone

          4  where we're not really seeing steady doctors to be

          5  treated for our conditions. We're being bounced

          6  around like rubber balls. And to close hospitals,

          7  it's totally disgraced. We protested against us.

          8  It's time for the politicians to get up and put in

          9  their priorities, what is important, the veteran or

         10  an unmanned trip to Mars? Are we going to explore

         11  space, or are we going to help veterans now instead

         12  of over the longrun?

         13                 And in reference to what the young

         14  lady said before me, there's also other issues, such

         15  as with disabled veterans, the way we're being

         16  treated, quality of life, not only as far as medical

         17  reasons go, which I hope the Board will set up some

         18  kind of a hearing, and really listen to it this time

         19  as we were shut out in the last hearing when I was

         20  down here in City Hall. We're totally ignored, and I

         21  would like to ask the chair to grant us a hearing to

         22  hear what else besides our health care is being

         23  affected? If there is concern among the members of

         24  the Board, please give us that hearing so we could

         25  actually dedicate it to us, dedicate one hearing to
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          2  us and hear us. Forget anybody else, let's get the

          3  veterans involved.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We have

          5  planned hearings in the future on that subject.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 MR. SCHROEDER: At this time I'd like

          8  to turn it over to Mr. DiToro.

          9                 MR. DiTORO: Yes, good afternoon.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yes, how

         11  are you?

         12                 MR. DiTORO: Yes, fine. And yourself?

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Fine.

         14  Thanks.

         15                 MR. DiTORO: Again I thank you for

         16  giving me the pleasure of appearing before the

         17  Committee, and I hope my few comments will generate

         18  some thought.

         19                 We were asked a question in the

         20  beginning, I can say the question is why since 1970,

         21  when I got out of the service, and I immediately got

         22  involved with the VA system, that it's still broken.

         23  Who is to blame for this?

         24                 Some blame has to fall somewhere, and

         25  the only thing I can bring out at this point is the
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          2  blame is that the people who make these rules, or

          3  impose these laws, should be held accountable. But

          4  they don't know what's -- the public doesn't know

          5  what's going on, because there is not really nothing

          6  that's very much publicized out there. We get a

          7  soundbite now and then about a Veterans hospital

          8  closing, Diane Sawyer did a great piece about a

          9  Veterans hospital where there was a lot of waste,

         10  mismanagement and death. But this is not done on a

         11  regular basis, and I feel in order to bring

         12  attention, especially to the veterans' health issue,

         13  we have to get out into the public, to the general

         14  population, to show how we are treating our young

         15  men and women who have served this country honorably

         16  and then come back into society, and then are

         17  sometimes completely ignored, not only on a health

         18  care basis, like Steve said, there are many other

         19  issues, there is home care, there is jobs. But

         20  seeing that we were on health care, we'll stick to

         21  that point at the present time.

         22                 The public doesn't know. And I feel

         23  if the public would know, they would rally around

         24  the veterans and be held, all politicians

         25  responsible on City level, state and federal.
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          2  Because there are issues on the City level that are

          3  not being told to the public, the way veterans are

          4  treated in certain areas. And if they were out there

          5  and told properly and the truth, the public would be

          6  quite, quite angry about the way we are treated.

          7                 Another point, and I'll make it brief

          8  again, is that I've been involved in the VA health

          9  care system for 35 years, since I came out of the

         10  military. I don't have a primary doctor.

         11                 In 35 years, I've never seen the same

         12  doctor twice. To add insult to injury, thank God my

         13  wife has medical coverage and I don't go to the VA

         14  as often as I should. I only use it as often, but

         15  when I do use it, something happens. I went to them

         16  awhile back, and they prescribed some medication for

         17  me, and I says "I'm allergic to that. I might get a

         18  reaction."

         19                 "No no, we don't know. Take it."

         20                 Well, I took the medication, almost

         21  passed out on the floor. My family doctor says cut

         22  it. So they send me a bill for $7 and change. I

         23  wrote them three letters and I attached it, and

         24  totally ignored, until I get a letter in the mail

         25  that they're going to charge me now $31.69 and take
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          2  it out of my VA check. That is an insult.

          3                 I think it's important that the

          4  veterans get a lot of information, and the City

          5  should be responsible. And I brought this up at the

          6  first meeting about this database, of all New York

          7  City veterans, that once they get out of the

          8  military, there should be a database where (a) they

          9  should be appreciated from their local government by

         10  a letter; and secondly, get all this information out

         11  to them, every aspect to their health care, their

         12  job avail, and any issue concerning veterans.

         13                 And I thank you for the pleasure of

         14  testifying.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I

         16  remember, I came back and got a letter from John

         17  Lindsay, and I thought that was nice. Besides being

         18  called a "baby killer," and other things like that,

         19  it was at least some recognition, even though it was

         20  a letter. We want to do a lot more than that, of

         21  course. But even something as minor as that doesn't

         22  take very much at all away from the public funding.

         23                 Either Mr. Smith or Mr. Simmons, and

         24  if you could try to keep within -- because we do

         25  have to vacate, sir.
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          2                 MR. SMITH: Since some of my points

          3  have been touched by my predecessor, I'd just like

          4  to make something every clear to you guys. I'm a

          5  disabled vet. You know, I volunteered my services --

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I'm sorry,

          7  could you identify yourself, please?

          8                 MR. SMITH: Richard Smith.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay.

         10                 MR. SMITH: I'm a veteran vendor. I

         11  vendor New York City.

         12                 I think it's very unfair the way some

         13  of you guys treat us, and I'm talking about

         14  politicians. You know, there are 374 disabled

         15  veterans in the City of New York, we have to vend to

         16  make a living because we got ourselves messed up

         17  serving this country, protecting the freedom

         18  everyone enjoys, including the cops, including

         19  everybody. Why do you guys allow cops to harass a

         20  disabled veteran trying to make a living in the City

         21  of New York, with a license at that, a licensed

         22  vendor?

         23                 Don't we have a right to live? Why do

         24  people trample on disabled veterans? People who made

         25  it so free for the big business to operate in this

                                                            82

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS AFFAIRS

          2  beautiful City of New York? Why can't we be

          3  respected? Why can't they put placques in the street

          4  and say this is yours because you have served blood

          5  for freedom?

          6                 Today we are faced with a law that

          7  was passed by the state and endorsed by members of

          8  this Council, to get us off the streets, because 374

          9  was too many to be on the street. Disabled veterans.

         10  Not veterans, disabled.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, you

         12  do know this is not what we're dealing with right

         13  now?

         14                 MR. SMITH: I'm just taking my time to

         15  give you this piece of it.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay.

         17                 MR. SMITH: Why are you guys not

         18  rallying with us? Why big business comes before us,

         19  when we made it possible for big business?

         20                 Why are you guys passing laws to

         21  prevent us from making a living? Why are you

         22  separating us? Why are you telling only 60 of us

         23  that we can work in Midtown Manhattan, and the other

         24  314 must walk the streets in poverty?

         25                 I'm on welfare right now because of
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          2  this.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay.

          4                 MR. SMITH: Is this good for a

          5  veteran? No, it isn't.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay, I

          7  think you made your point. This is not the forum for

          8  that right now, but expressing yourself is fine. We

          9  thank you.

         10                 And we have dealt with that and the

         11  Consumer Affairs actually, the Committee on Consumer

         12  Affairs has been dealing with that, and with the

         13  state laws coming down to the City laws, there's a

         14  lot more to be dealt with.

         15                 Unfortunately, it's been my

         16  understanding, too, that sometimes the permits have

         17  been going on to other people as well at times.

         18  That's the argument that they used up there. I'm not

         19  arguing their side of this, even though we've met

         20  privately about this ourselves. But thank you, sir.

         21                 I think next is Mr. Simmons.

         22                 MR. SIMMONS: Ben Simmons, yes.

         23  Greetings.

         24                 I'm here also as representing the

         25  Disabled Veteran Vendors of America here
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          2  specifically in New York City, and I do want to

          3  obviously -- I mean, I'm new. I've never done this

          4  before. This issue concerning the VA hospital

          5  touches me personally as well, specifically 23rd

          6  Street VA.

          7                 I, you know, just asked the question,

          8  why is there even a question of funding for a

          9  facility which is obviously essential to provide for

         10  sorely needed medical attention for our nation's

         11  sons and daughters who need medical attention in

         12  varying degrees. When you're returning from combat,

         13  it shouldn't be a question. It should not be even a

         14  question. There's funding for various and sundry

         15  other things. When you go and you put your life on

         16  the line, even if you're not in the midst of combat,

         17  but you're still here in the states, but you're

         18  stationed at one of the bases, and you're providing

         19  support for the troops that are being taken over

         20  there, over there so that we don't have to deal with

         21  it over here; why is there a question as to funding

         22  for medical attention that's going to be needed

         23  obviously?

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Mr.

         25  Simmons, it is bewildering to all of us, and that's
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          2  what we're trying to expose to the public. It's too

          3  bad we can't afford to have a public relations firm.

          4  You were alluding towards that, I believe, Mr.

          5  DiToro, getting the point across to the population,

          6  and usually there aren't enough of us to get it

          7  across, when you have these professional

          8  organizations they get it across, and they see in

          9  the airwaves and the newspapers, in the media

         10  itself, because to us it's obvious what you're

         11  saying?

         12                 MR. SIMMONS: Yes. Can I finish my

         13  point?

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Sure.

         15                 MR. SIMMONS: Okay. As I was saying,

         16  I'm in a quandary, and I view the existence of this

         17  funding question as non-sequitor (phonetic) and

         18  further, I, along with a large number of veterans

         19  with disabilities, we do have a great appreciation

         20  for the service that the 23rd Street VA hospital

         21  makes available to us. And I have another issue. Why

         22  as a disabled veteran, who has in my medical

         23  records, evidence of physical disabilities that I

         24  received while I was in service, in the United

         25  States Air Force from '79 to '85. I did not get the
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          2  GI bill, I didn't get really much in regard to that

          3  type of thing. But why do I have to jump through

          4  hoops to receive compensation for disabilities that

          5  I have that affect my physical movement? Because I

          6  wasn't made aware of how the process works.

          7                 If you leave the service, you're

          8  discharged. You do not see some medical, or seek

          9  medical attention about the same issues that you had

         10  while you were in the service within a year's time,

         11  then you have, you know, put yourself in a sense out

         12  of the picture in regards to compensation.

         13                 I now have to jump through hoops at

         14  the VA hospital to prove that I have these ailments

         15  that are in my records. Why do I have to do that?

         16  This doesn't make sense to me. These are my

         17  questions.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: This goes

         19  back to some of the things we touched upon before,

         20  too, in the 30 days if you don't contact them. It's

         21  a lot of very strange regulations the feds have come

         22  up with that we're trying to grapple with at this

         23  level and get them aware of it, and we seem to have

         24  a lot of support with the members of our federal

         25  elected delegation, if you will, congressional and
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          2  senate. So, these are things we are working on. I'd

          3  like to thank Mr. Simmons, Mr. DiToro, Mr. Schroeder

          4  and Mr. Smith.

          5                 MR. DiTORO: May I make one more

          6  point, and it's very, very brief, if I may? And it

          7  goes out to all of the gentlemen of the DAVs, the

          8  American Legion, the Purple Heart Organization, the

          9  Vietnam Veterans' Organization. Somebody earlier

         10  mentioned that we're finally on the same page with

         11  this health issue. Well, it seems to me, and I

         12  belong to three organizations, it seems to me that

         13  within these organizations there is diversity. And

         14  if we all can get together on a lot more of

         15  veterans' issues, it means the DAV back in the

         16  American Legion, we would accomplish more if we are

         17  united and not divided.

         18                 I don't know what the division is,

         19  because I'm not astute to that, whether it's

         20  political or what. But the gentleman said earlier,

         21  and I have found that out to be, that these

         22  organizations are not some time, most of the time

         23  are not on the same page, and I hope that one day

         24  everybody will be on the same page and we'll be a

         25  better force out there to correct the problems that
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          2  we're having with veterans and our issues.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 And I think the last gentleman is

          7  Denny Meyer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Good

          9  afternoon. Mr. Meyer, from the American Veterans for

         10  Equal Rights. Please go ahead and start your

         11  testimony.

         12                 MR. MEYER: I'll be very brief.

         13                 Council Members and fellow veterans,

         14  Denny Meyer, with American Veterans for Equal

         15  Rights, representing 1 million gay, lesbian,

         16  bisexual, transgender living veterans nationwide.

         17                 I don't have prepared remarks today.

         18  I basically crawled out of a sick bed. What I want

         19  to talk about is the personal experience of dealing

         20  with the VA in its current shorthanded, short-funded

         21  state. Everybody else has given excellent facts and

         22  figures, there's no need to repeat any of that. But

         23  I've just basically come out of the hospital, the VA

         24  system, and I'm lucky to be alive. I'm essentially

         25  dying of cancer because of neglect at the VA. I
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          2  started out at the Brooklyn VA, where I've been see

          3  for several years, and last summer I pointed out

          4  certain symptoms, no tests were done. I was told

          5  "don't worry about it," because they just didn't

          6  have time. They had veterans coming out of their

          7  ears. There just wasn't enough time or money to just

          8  deal with everybody, and when I finally presented a

          9  symptom that was good enough in October, this is not

         10  an ear ache, this is bladder cancer, which advances

         11  very quickly and you die from. I brought this to

         12  their attention in the summer, brought a symptom in

         13  October. I was not examined until mid-December. At

         14  that time a normal hospital would do a biopsy at the

         15  same time that they have a look - not their system.

         16  They just had a look and they said, oh, yes, you do

         17  have a tumor, come back in mid-January and we'll

         18  remove it. The biopsy was done in January. They

         19  said, well, you seem to have stage II cancer. You

         20  have to lose your whole bladder. Come back in

         21  another month and we'll do that. I wasn't operated

         22  on until the end of February, even though I

         23  presented symptoms in the summer.

         24                 In essence, I now have stage III

         25  cancer, I'm likely to die from it. If they had done
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          2  tests last summer, it probably wouldn't have

          3  advanced this quickly. I don't blame the doctors,

          4  necessarily, I blame the overcrowding, lack of

          5  funding. I can go on with my story, but I think

          6  you've heard enough.

          7                 I just wanted to kind of add to the

          8  facts that figures that were presented, what the

          9  actual experience is to live with this system, and

         10  essentially suffer through it, and possibly lose

         11  one's life because of it, because of overcrowded and

         12  underfunded.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just Mr.

         16  Chair, this repeated testimony about the wait time

         17  and the resulting harm to health is outrageous. I

         18  thank you and all the other witnesses for coming

         19  forward. It's something I'm sure we will take

         20  forward. I wish you the best. Veterans have beaten

         21  the odds in the past, so keep on fighting.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 We actually have testimony from one

         25  other individual, Ronald White, from the Blind
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          2  Veterans Association. It will be the final witness

          3  in today's hearing.

          4                 MR. WHITE: Good morning, Mr.

          5  Chairman. As indicated in my opening statement that

          6  you received, I'm a representative from the Blinded

          7  Veterans Association, and I am not the national

          8  legislative or government affairs representative. I

          9  am merely the secretary of our New York Regional

         10  Group. I was asked to come instead of Ms. Rebecca

         11  Vinduska, who was unable to make it. Apologies have

         12  been sent.

         13                 I am not going to repeat ad nauseam

         14  what others have said. Obviously the Blinded

         15  Veterans Association supports your resolution 291

         16  fully.

         17                 I would like to point out what I say

         18  to my third paragraph there. I am a retired -- I'm

         19  retired from the Army and I get the Army Times.  In

         20  the latest edition of the Army Times there is an

         21  article in there that states Forced to Stay.

         22  Received More Pay, or something like that.

         23                 Those service personnel who are in

         24  Iraq today who thought they were going to come home,

         25  have now been extended and they are forced to stay.
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          2  They weren't asked would you like to stay. It was

          3  mandatory for them to stay until they are allowed to

          4  come back home. Like veterans from previous wars,

          5  whether Vietnam, World War I and II, or other

          6  conflicts, once you sign on the dotted line, once

          7  you're in the service, you are not given much of a

          8  choice as to where you're going to serve or how

          9  you're going to serve, it is mandatory that you go

         10  where you're asked to serve.

         11                 Once you've done that, and anyone who

         12  has been in a hostile fire area, knows that even if

         13  you are not physically injured, everyone in some way

         14  is affected psychologically. That means you must

         15  have some assistance when you come back home.

         16                 Some of us function better than

         17  others. I have functioned pretty well myself, but

         18  since the service is mandatory, there should be no

         19  question, as one of the previous individuals stated,

         20  there should be no question as to whether or not the

         21  funding is mandatory. When we served our country, we

         22  were promised a certain amount of care. I'm not

         23  going to get into all the other situations that have

         24  already been discussed, but when that individual

         25  comes home from Iraq, from Kuwait, there must be a
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          2  system that is funded to take care of their health

          3  needs, whether it be physical or psychologically,

          4  and I can answer any questions you may have to ask

          5  me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          7  very much for that testimony. Hold on one minute.

          8  What's been your personal experience with the VA in

          9  particular?

         10                 MR. WHITE: I've been using the VA

         11  system since 1980. I am one of the lucky ones. When

         12  I retired from the Army, I was ten percent service

         13  connected. I say lucky, because my records indicated

         14  I had a problem before I resigned, I mean retired.

         15                 In 1997, my vision had deteriorated

         16  to the point that I'm legally blind. Fortunately,

         17  since it was in my records, I am now 100 percent

         18  service connected disabled. All of my health care is

         19  being provided by the VA, and I get all of my health

         20  care from the VA. I want to compliment the doctors

         21  and the nurses and the staffs at the VAs for

         22  providing the health care that they do give us, but,

         23  as others have said, sometimes it's inadequate.

         24                 I am wearing a pair of glasses now

         25  that provides me with some clarity in my left eye. I
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          2  could not get two pair. I sat on these the other

          3  night, almost broke them. Thank God I didn't,

          4  because if I had broken them, I would have been

          5  without these glasses until I was able to go back to

          6  the VA, order another set, wait for them to-- for me

          7  to receive them, all because of this discretionary

          8  funding for the VA. I should be able to go to the VA

          9  and say I need this pair of glasses that I wear, and

         10  I need a spare pair, just in case the ones I'm

         11  wearing get broken. And this goes for anyone who

         12  gets medical care at the VA hospital.

         13                 These are little things, but they're

         14  very important to us. I use a cane. This is a very

         15  insignificant item for most people. I can only get

         16  two of them at a time. So, I have a folding stick

         17  and a straight stick. When one of them wears out, I

         18  have to do without a stick until I get another one,

         19  all because of discretionary funding.

         20                 There should be no question that I

         21  need this type of support, these prosthetics.

         22  Anyway, overall, I have been pleased with the

         23  service that I get from the VA health care system.

         24  Unfortunately because of the type of funding that it

         25  has, they are required to limit the type of service
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          2  that they give to me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 Council Member Gerson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just another

          7  variation of the question I asked earlier. Do you

          8  find that you've benefitted, or do you find it

          9  helpful to receive care from a facility dedicated

         10  specifically to veterans as opposed to a more

         11  general, or a facility which serves the general

         12  population?

         13                 MR. WHITE: Without a doubt. I was

         14  able to attend the Blind Rehab Facility in West

         15  Haven, Connecticut. It was a six-week basic course,

         16  and a four-week computer access training course.

         17                 There is nothing like that available

         18  in private hospitals. The only way I could have

         19  gotten this training is through the VA. The VA is

         20  noted for its rehabilitation centers. And, so, I

         21  heard you mention the situation about vouchers, you

         22  can give me all the vouchers in the world, if I have

         23  to go to the private hospital, I never would have

         24  gotten the training that I received from the VA.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I want to
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          2  thank you very much for your testimony, sir. Thank

          3  you very much. And to all the veterans in

          4  attendance, we will be looking forward having you at

          5  our next hearing where we will hopefully be voting

          6  this resolution out of Committee. I look forward to

          7  seeing you then, and have a blessed day. Thank you

          8  very much. The meeting is closed.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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